
Board of Directors
Regular Meeting Agenda

Supplementary information
Tuesday, April 21, 2020, 7:00pm

Jeanne Marie Gaulke Community Meeting Room
Zoom meeting

502 State St, Hood River
Jean Sheppard President

Notes prepared by Library Director Rachael Fox

The Hood River County Library District is taking steps to limit exposure and spread of COVID-
19 (novel coronavirus). In support of state and federal guidelines for social distancing, the 
Hood River County Library District will hold this meeting by using Zoom Conferencing. 

Please use the following phone number or video link: 
(301)715-8592
https://zoom.us/j/99093567791
Meeting ID: 990 9356 7791

I. Additions/deletions from the agenda (ACTION) Sheppard

II. Actual or potential conflicts of interest Sheppard

III. Consent agenda (ACTION) Sheppard

i. Minutes from the February 19, 2020, regular meeting
ii. Minutes from the March 14, 2020, emergency meeting

IV. Open forum for the general public           Sheppard   

V. Reports 

i. Friends update   Fox

ii. Foundation update Fox

iii. February and March 2020 Financial Statements
iv. Director's report Fox

VI. Previous business
i. Budget calendar approval and budget committee discussion 

(ACTION)  Fox

VII. New business   
i. Library Director Evaluation (ACTION) Sheppard
ii. Accounting services           Fox

iii. Hood River County Library District Road Map to Reopening     Fox

VIII. Adjournment                                                                                            
_______________

Board meeting agenda [2020-04-21] 1



Other matters may be discussed as deemed appropriate by the Board. If necessary, 
Executive Session may be held in accordance with the following. Bolded topics are scheduled
for the current meeting's executive session.

ORS 192.660 (1) (d) Labor Negotiations
ORS 192.660 (1) (e) Property
ORS 192.660 (1) (h) Legal Rights
ORS 192.660 (1) (i) Personnel

The Board of Directors meets on the 3rd Tuesday each month from 7.00 to 9.00p in the 
Jeanne Marie Gaulke Memorial Meeting Room at 502 State Street, Hood River, Oregon. Sign 
language interpretation for the hearing impaired is available if at least 48 hours notice is 
given.

Page 2

Board meeting agenda [2020-04-21] 2



Board of Directors
Regular Meeting Agenda

Supplementary information
Tuesday, April 21, 2020, 7:00pm

Jeanne Marie Gaulke Community Meeting Room
Zoom meeting

502 State St, Hood River
Jean Sheppard President

Notes prepared by Library Director Rachael Fox

The Hood River County Library District is taking steps to limit exposure and spread of COVID-
19 (novel coronavirus). In support of state and federal guidelines for social distancing, the 
Hood River County Library District will hold this meeting by using Zoom Conferencing. 

Please use the following phone number or video link: 
(301)715-8592
https://zoom.us/j/99093567791
Meeting ID: 990 9356 7791

I. Additions/deletions from the agenda (ACTION) Sheppard

II. Actual or potential conflicts of interest Sheppard

III. Consent agenda (ACTION) Sheppard

i. Minutes from the February 19, 2020, regular meeting
ii. Minutes from the March 14, 2020, emergency meeting

Attachments:
• III.ii.a. Minutes February 19, 2020 regular meeting
• III.ii.b. Minutes March 14, 2020 emergency meeting

IV. Open forum for the general public   Sheppard  
 

V. Reports 

i. Friends update   Fox
• The Friends of the Library did not meet in April due to COVID-19. 
• The Friends of the Library have postponed their book sale with the date to be 

determined.

ii. Foundation update Fox
• The Library Foundation decided to postponed the Feast of Words fundraiser due to 

concerns regarding the spread of Coronavirus COVID-19.
• The Hood River Library Foundation has donated $10,000 to the Hood River County 

School District. The donation will be used to purchase books for students to have at 
home. These funds will be prioritized for students in Kindergarten through 5th Grades. 
We are grateful for this amazing partnership with the Hood River County School 

Board meeting agenda [2020-04-21], supplementary info 3



District which will safely deliver physical books into the hands of children in our 
community. 

iii. February and March 2020 Financial Statements
Attachments: 

◦ V.iii.a. February 2020 financial statements
◦ V.iii.b. March 2020 financial statements

We are tracking well for this time of the year. 

We have received $913,704 this fiscal year for current year property taxes. We will receive 
around $23,000 in May from tax revenue. We receive the bulk of our revenue in November 
but we receive two smaller payments in February and May due to the quarterly payment plans
offered by Hood River County.

iv. Director's report Fox

Administration, Programs, Services
• I had a few busy weeks setting up staff to work from home. Staff have worked hard to 

redesign our website, develop new services, and get our online programs up and 
running quickly. It has been a team effort! We all log into SLACK (online platform) when
we are working. This allows us to easily stay connected during our work day and 
communicate and share information with ease. I also have weekly meetings on Zoom 
with specific staff members and we had our first ever Zoom staff meeting for the entire 
staff on Friday, April 10. Each staff member now has tasks and duties. Here are some 
of the tasks:
◦ Online programs – Adults, Teens, Kids, and Spanish Speakers

▪ Weekly storytime – English and Spanish
▪ Weekly kids radio show on Radio Tierra
▪ Daily literacy adventures and kids letters to the library
▪ Weekly trivia challenge for kids
▪ Teen storytime – 3 x week
▪ Teen/adult weekly trivia
▪ Teen council weekly meetings
▪ New ideas:

• Escape room - teens
• Choose your own adventure – teens

▪ New programs:
• Adult book club monthly meetings
• New programs for adults in the near future. Assistant Director Arwen Ungar 

is in charge of adult programming. She returned Thursday from her leave 
and will be developing new programs soon.

◦ Website development – www.hoodriverlibrary.org
• Redesigned the entire site
• FAQ section – information related to closure
• Community resource page – help during COVID-19
• Digital resource page 

Page 2

Board meeting agenda [2020-04-21], supplementary info 4

https://hoodriverlibrary.org/


• Tech help page
• Updated Friends and Foundation pages
• Library news section 
• Individual pages – Adults, Teens, Kids, Spanish Speakers

◦ Online programs
◦ Library resources – ebooks, audiobooks, movie streaming, research 

tools, learning resources and more. 
◦ Recommended websites
◦ Recommended books by library staff – available from digital resources

• Marketing - website, social media, and enewsletter
• Staff check info@ email each day 
• Process new library cards. We have created 49 new cards since we closed. 
• Call center – open Monday-Friday, 10am-5pm. We are using a service called 

Grasshopper which allows calls to be forwarded to staff members cell phones at 
specific times during the day. 

• Staff – create recommended book lists each week for Adults, Teens and Kids. The titles
are available on our digital resources.

• Bilingual Outreach Specialist Yeli Boots is translating our polices into Spanish for our 
website.

• Library staff have reached out to the Hood River County School District to see how we 
can assist. School staff are directing kids to our digital resources and sign up for e-
library cards. 

• Staff member picks up our magazines weekly and takes them home to catalog for the 
collection.

• Staff member is repairing damaged library materials at home.
• Physical materials

▪ Library staff are ordering physical library materials – kids, teen, adult selectors 
order materials which are shipped directly to our cataloger’s house. Their 
remaining budgets for this fiscal year has been reduced by 50%. 

▪ Cataloger – receives boxes of new materials at her home. She has a 72 hour 
waiting period. She opens the boxes and catalogs the new items. Then she 
boxes them up, dates them and takes them back to the library. 

▪ Covering/processing new library materials – 72 hours after our cataloger drops 
off the box. Our shelver picks up the boxes, takes them home, covers items with
book tape or plastic cover. She also writes the barcode on all the DVD and 
audiobook items. She returns the box the library.

• I have been working with library staff to develop new procedures and services and 
overseeing all staff members duties. I’ve also been visiting the library every few days to
check on the facility. We have had workers in the building conducting regular 
maintenance. Now that library staff are set up with duties and doing great work, I will 
focus my attention on our upcoming interim audit and preparing the budget for FY20-
21. 
◦ Building maintenance

▪ Michael repaired and painted a few areas in the Hood River building. He also 
cleaned out the boiler room, which had become cluttered over the years. 
Michael is performing his regular maintenance involving checking roof for 
damage and replacing light bulbs.

Page 3

Board meeting agenda [2020-04-21], supplementary info 5



▪ We had our annual maintenance on the fire extinguishers and fire alarm system.
▪ In the next few weeks, we will have our regular maintenance completed on the 

HVAC, boiler and small heating/cooling units in the Tech room and Columbia 
room. 

▪ Our irrigation has been turned on and our grounds maintenance crew is visiting 
the grounds weekly.

▪ Due to the closure, I did not renew our contract with our janitorial company 
Clean-All. I have scheduled a deep cleaning of the facility and spring cleaning of
our carpets this month with our janitorial company. I will contact our janitorial 
company to discuss revising our contract to involve cleaning additional surfaces 
daily in the building since we will need to sanitize more surfaces on a daily basis
when we reopen to the public. I plan to explore a 30 day contract with the 
company for the month of May, if we plan to have library staff start working in 
the building in May. At the May meeting, we can sign a new contract with our 
janitorial company which can start June 1 or we can explore other options based
upon our plan for reopening.

• We will have our interim audit on Thursday, April 23. This will be conducted remotely. I 
will be at the library from 10am-5pm since I need access to our physical records. 

Facilities
• The City of Hood River is considering all the suggestions from the board regarding 

improving the safety of the crosswalk in front of the library. They have moved the 
garbage can and completely removed the recycling bin which has increased viability. 

• We are taking safety precautions for staff members and workers visiting our building. 
Staff must use the same entrance and exit. Staff must wash their hands in the staff 
break room sink after they enter and before they leave the building. They must wear a 
mask in the building. Each time I visit the building I clean the door handles, sink, staff 
work table and staff mailbox area. If staff touch other areas, they are responsible for 
cleaning the areas. Workers must wear masks in the building and wash their hands 
when they enter the building. 

VI. Previous business
i. Budget calendar approval and budget committee discussion 

(ACTION)  Fox
Attachment: VI.i. Proposed 2020-21 budget calendar

We need to approve the budget calendar, which delineates when the budget committee will 
meet, when notices are published in the paper, and when the budget is approved by the 
Board. Our budget is reviewed by the budget committee, a group consisting of the Board of 
Directors and an equivalent number of community members. 

Budget committee members are appointed to 3-year terms. Monica Zorza Hocket and Lani 
Roberts terms ended in 2019. Both Zorza Hocket and Roberts would like to renew for another
3-year term. Currently, our Budget Committee is Jen Bayer and Erick VonLubken. Amber 
Bello has resigned from the committee. 

Page 4

Board meeting agenda [2020-04-21], supplementary info 6



The District Board has to appoint a new member of the community to the committee. I 
recommend Angela Schock. Angela has prepared a statement to the board. 

“I’m thrilled to be considered for a position on the library budget committee. Hood River 
County’s library is an integral part of our community and I would be honored to be part of the 
process to ensure its ongoing viability. 

I am currently involved in the Friends of the Library as part of the weekly book prep team and 
a volunteer at library events. I would bring to the budget committee a background in business 
management. I am in my third year of retirement after 30 years in high-tech corporate 
employment (Canon and Hewlett-Packard) in positions ranging from product marketing and 
business management to business development and ‘chief of staff’ roles for senior executive 
level managers. My business skills include market and data assessment, setting and 
managing budgets, meeting facilitation, communications, building and managing processes 
and event strategy and management. Thank you in advance for your consideration.” Angela 
Schock.

I would like to ask the board if they have a recommendation for the budget committee.

I’m asking the board approve Monica Zorza Hocket and Lani Roberts terms to another 3 year 
term, the budget calendar and appoint the Budget Officer, which typically is the Library 
Director. 

In addition, I ask the board to appoint a new member to the committee to fulfill the remainder 
of Amber Bello’s term, which ends June 2020. 

 
VII. New business   

i. Library Director Evaluation (ACTION) Sheppard
Attachments:
VII.i.a. Library Director Evaluation Policy
VII.i.b. Library Director evaluation timeline

I will be reviewed annually at the May Board meeting. The process is delineated in the Library
Director Evaluation Policy. It's a 360º process. I evaluate myself, the staff evaluates me, 
selected community members evaluate me, and finally, with those previous three evaluations,
the Board evaluates me. The questions use a 1-5 scale, with optional comments. The process
typically runs from April through May, with the review happening at the May regular Board 
meeting, usually in executive session (although my evaluation is considered a public record, 
unlike other staff). The process goes like this:

The Board reviews and approves the questions and Library Director evaluation timeline.

In April, I am given two weeks to complete my self-evaluation. It mainly consists of narrative. 
At the same time, the staff and community members (which consists of the Presidents of the 
Friends and Foundation plus other individuals selected by the Board) are given their 
questions, which are distributed via online survey. The Library District Board President 
administers the online surveys using the District's SurveyMonkey account.

Page 5

Board meeting agenda [2020-04-21], supplementary info 7



Once all three of those evaluations are completed, they're compiled by the Library District 
Board President and given to the entire Board to assist in completing their evaluations.

Once the Board evaluation is completed, I am given a week before the May meeting to review
the evaluation.

At the May meeting, the evaluation meeting happens. At that time, the Board determines 
whether to renew my annual contract and if a step increase is warranted.

The evaluation goes into my personnel file.

The Library Director evaluation timeline needs to be approved by the board. 

ii. Accounting services Fox
Attachment: 

• VII.ii.a. Contract Onstott, Brohel and Cyphers 2017-2020
• VII.ii.b. Contract renewal 2019-20
• VII.ii.c. Bid Request for Accounting Services

Our contract for accounting services with Onstott, Broehl, and Cyphers (attached as VII.i.a) 
comes to an end on June 30, 2020. They perform various services for us including writing 
checks, reconciling bank statements, maintaining accounts, payroll, preparing monthly 
financial statements, preparing tax statements, and paying taxes. We are currently paying 
$18,300/year for this service. Since the contract is opening, we need to go through a 
procurement process. Per the Oregon Revised Statutes, here are the guidelines we must 
follow for this procurement.

• 279B.070 Intermediate procurements.
Any procurement of goods or services exceeding $10,000 but not exceeding $150,000 
may be awarded in accordance with intermediate procurement procedures. A contract 
awarded under this section may be amended to exceed $150,000 only in accordance 
with rules adopted under ORS 279A.065.

• A procurement may not be artificially divided or fragmented so as to constitute an 
intermediate procurement under this section.

• When conducting an intermediate procurement, a contracting agency shall seek at 
least three informally solicited competitive price quotes or competitive proposals from 
prospective contractors. The contracting agency shall keep a written record of the 
sources of the quotes or proposals received. If three quotes or proposals are not 
reasonably available, fewer will suffice, but the contracting agency shall make a written
record of the effort made to obtain the quotes or proposals.

• If a contract is awarded, the contracting agency shall award the contract to the offer or 
whose quote or proposal will best serve the interests of the contracting agency, taking 
into account price as well as considerations including, but not limited to, experience, 
expertise, product functionality, suitability for a particular purpose and contractor 
responsibility under ORS 279B.110. [2003 c.794 §54]

Page 6

Board meeting agenda [2020-04-21], supplementary info 8



Thus, under these rules, we can seek informal bids. However, having a Request for Proposal 
(RFP) document is helpful for seeking a bid such as this. Attached as VII.i.b is the Bid 
Request for Accounting Services. I am seeking bids from the following local accountants. 
They seem to offer the types of services we need. Please let me know if you would like to me 
to seeks bids from additional businesses.

• Arens & Associates
• Onstott, Broehl, & Cyphers
• Rowe & Deming
• SCG Enterprises Inc.
• Wendy B. Willow

iii. Hood River County Library District Road Map to Reopening  Fox
Attachment: 

◦ VII.iii. Hood River County Library District Road Map to Reopening

I would like to discuss the Hood River County Library Reopening Road map. I think having a 
road map, even though we are not ready to provide exact dates, will provide hope, stability 
and reassurance for our patrons and staff. I am anticipating we will have modified library 
services until a vaccine is developed and all restrictions are lifted on a federal, state and local 
level. I also anticipate we may have to move between stage 1 and 2 depending upon if there 
is another outbreak in the future. When Governor Kate Brown starts lifting restrictions we can 
be ready to move into action.  

Library staff is currently developing procedures for the following: 
• Quarantining returned library materials 
• Sanitizing and cleaning staff work spaces and public spaces throughout the day
• Physical distancing for staff and public
• Implementing stage 1-4

I would like to discuss changing our closure date from April 28 to closed until further notice. 
This will give us flexibility and eliminate the need to keep pushing back dates. 

VIII.  Agenda items for next meeting                                                            Sheppard
• Library Director Evaluation
• Review accounting services bids
• 2020-21 salary schedule
• Reminder:  

◦ First Budget Committee meeting: Tuesday, May 14, 2019, 6:30-8:30pm
◦ Second Budget Committee meeting, if needed: Tuesday May 21, 2019, 6:00-

7:00pm

IX. Adjournment                                                                                            
_______________

Page 7

Board meeting agenda [2020-04-21], supplementary info 9



Other matters may be discussed as deemed appropriate by the Board. If necessary, 
Executive Session may be held in accordance with the following. Bolded topics are scheduled
for the current meeting's executive session.

ORS 192.660 (1) (d) Labor Negotiations
ORS 192.660 (1) (e) Property
ORS 192.660 (1) (h) Legal Rights
ORS 192.660 (1) (i) Personnel

The Board of Directors meets on the 3rd Tuesday each month from 7.00 to 9.00p in the 
Jeanne Marie Gaulke Memorial Meeting Room at 502 State Street, Hood River, Oregon. Sign 
language interpretation for the hearing impaired is available if at least 48 hours notice is 
given.

Page 8

Board meeting agenda [2020-04-21], supplementary info 10



Board of Directors
Regular Meeting Minutes

Wednesday, February 19, 2020, 7:00pm
Columbia Room

502 State St, Hood River
Jean Sheppard President

Minutes prepared by Library Director Rachael Fox

I. Additions/deletions from the agenda (ACTION) Sheppard
Board President Jean Sheppard called the meeting to order at 7:03pm. Bureker made a 
motion to approve the agenda as presented. Janik seconded. The motion carried 
unanimously.

II. Actual or potential conflicts of interest Sheppard
None stated. 

III. Consent agenda (ACTION) Sheppard
Marsden moved to approve the consent agenda. Janik seconded. The motion carried 
unanimously. 

IV. Open forum for the general public     Sheppard  
None present.  

V. Reports 
i. Friends update   Fox

The was nothing to add to the written report.  

ii. Foundation update Fox
The was nothing to add to the written report.  

iii. January 2020 financial statements Fox
The was nothing to add to the written report.  

iv. Director's report Fox
Marsden asked if the stairwell was still under the floor in the children’s area. Fox stated it was.
Fox said Michael Peterson is a general contractor and secured the area. Fox explained 
Peterson said the construction was not done well but it is secure now and there is no danger 
to the public. 

VI. Previous business
i. Earthquake insurance (ACTION)    Fox

Bureker stated if we add the insurance it should be something we can anticipate continuing 
indefinitely. Marsden stated hearing other Special Districts have earthquake insurance made 

III.ii.a. Minutes February 19, 2020 regular meeting 11



her lean toward adding insurance for the library. Sheppard said she worried about not having 
insurance and then if the library does have damage, we would have to ask the public to vote 
to repair the building and that request would most likely not be supported by the public since 
we did not have insurance. Marsden agreed. Sheppard asked what the District can anticipate 
the insurance rate increasing each year. Fox stated she would contact the district insurance 
agent Jon Davies. Sheppard also asked when the insurance would go into effect. Fox stated 
she would ask Davies. Janik moved to add the earthquake insurance in the amount of $3,323.
Hackett seconded. The motion carried unanimously. 

VII. New business   
i. Budget calendar approval and budget committee discussion (ACTION)  Fox

Hackett stated he was unavailable Tuesday, May 12 and requested the meeting be moved to 
Wednesday, May 13. The board discussed that would be fine for everyone as long as more 
people could attend Wednesday, May instead of Tuesday, May 12. Fox stated she would 
contact the budget committee and report back to the board. 

The board approved of retaining Monica Zorza Hackett and Lani Roberts on the budget 
committee. Fox will contact Zorza Hackett and Roberts to request they serve another three 
year term. Fox will contact the board if there are any openings that need to be filled. This will 
allow the board to gather recommendations together to discuss at the March 18 District Board
meeting. 

The board will approve the budget calendar and budget committee at the March 18 District 
Board meeting. 

ii. Contract renewal Ruben Cleaveland District legal counsel (ACTION)       Fox
Sheppard stated there were not many options for legal counsel in the area. Fox stated she 
was happy with the service and support provided by Cleaveland. Sheppard also stated the 
District is happy with Cleaveland. Bureker moved to approve the contract renewal with Ruben
Cleaveland. Hackett seconded. The motion carried unanimously.

iii. Meeting room policy (ACTION)   Fox
Sheppard asked Fox to explain the desire to remove the requirement for the meeting room 
application. Fox stated it was redundant procedure since we input all the meeting room 
contact information and scheduling information into a Google calendar. In addition, our 
meeting room users agree to our Meeting Room Policy when the use our room and we do 
need patrons to fill out additional paperwork. Eliminating the need for an application for users 
who pay to use the room and use the room after hours will make library staff work flows more 
efficient. Janik asked if the meeting room application was a duplicate procedure? Fox stated it
was. Sheppard stated it made sense to eliminate the application if it make things efficient and 
was not needed. Bureker made a motion to approve the updated meeting room policy. 
Marsden seconded. The motion carried unanimously.

iv. Gardens Maintenance contract renewal Fox
Sheppard asked Fox if she was satisfied with the service by Mora’s Lawn Maintance. Fox 
stated there were two concerns. First, a Master Gardener approached her to inform her the 

Page 2

III.ii.a. Minutes February 19, 2020 regular meeting 12



bushes were not being trimmed properly. Second, the company was not always consistent 
regarding a weekly routine or they stated they would come and then not arrive for a few days. 
Fox stated they are a new company and she has been working with them and would like to 
give them another year to improve their service. Fox stated she would like to go through the 
bidding process next year. Sheppard stated there are not many companies in the gorge for 
commerical service. She recommended contacting the City or County and a company from 
Portland called Crystal Springs. Fox stated she would put the project out for bid in January. 
Fox stated it’s not an ideal time of year since we often have snow on the ground. Hackett 
suggested extending the contract this year to end later in the season. Fox realized the reason
the contract ends in February is most likely to have a person in place for spring cleanup which
begins in March. 

Bureker made a motion to approve the contract renewal. Hackett seconded. The motion 
carried unanimously.

v. Preventative Maintenance agreement with Hunter-Davisson, Inc.      Fox
Fox stated it is important to have our HVAC system and boiler routinely maintained. Fox 
recommends having one company visit four times per year to change the filters and check 
over the system. Our previous maintenance was done by two companies and was not reliably
serviced. Fox was impressed with the service and expertise of Hunter-Davvisson. The 
contract is for one year and can be canceled anytime with 30 days notice. 

Marsden made a motion to approve the Preventative Maintenance agreement with Hunter-
Davisson. Janik seconded. The motion carried unanimously. 

vi. Library reader board sign discussion                                                   Fox
The board discussed the location of the new sign. Sheppard and Marsden both stated they 
liked the location. Marsden asked if Fox had received any other negative feedback. Fox 
stated Michael Peterson heard a few people say the sign was ugly. He thought it was only 
due to it being new. Sheppard asked if staff had received feedback. Fox stated she did not 
recall anyone else negatively commenting on the sign and library staff had not reported any 
negative feedback. Marsden and Sheppard both stated they had heard people comment on 
the messages on the sign and now knew of programs occurring. Fox and the board agreed 
the sign was effective in regards to increasing awareness of programs at the library. Everyone
agreed there was not another location as highly visible. 

Sheppard stated the board listened and appreciated the feedback. She expressed change 
can be difficult but the reader board is highly effective to informing the public of our programs 
and services. From our five year strategic plan, goal number 4 is to expand alternative ways 
of promoting library news to increase participation and attendance and the board is highly 
motivated to get people into our building and utilizing our services. The board and library staff 
have overall received positive comment regarding the sign. Many other organizations use 
these types of boards to receive information and the board is satisfied with the placement.  

vii. Art installation request discussion                                                             Fox
Sheppard and Marsden stated they liked the sculpture. Fox stated she thinks it is important to

Page 3

III.ii.a. Minutes February 19, 2020 regular meeting 13



develop a policy to address art installations and donations since she expected other artists 
may request in the near future to have art installed on the grounds on within the library. Fox 
stated she was approached in the past but it did not move to the formal board level. The 
board agreed it would be best to have a policy in place before considering the art piece. Fox 
stated she would contact Chas Martin and inform him the board will be working on a policy 
over the next few months and she would contact him when it was in place. 

viii.Library crosswalk discussion                                                             Fox
Sheppard stated she had received feedback from patrons in the community to remove the 
garbage and recycling can. Fox stated that is her recommendation she planned to bring to the
committee, too. Fox stated City Administrator Rachael Fuller is happy to work with the District 
to improve the crosswalk. The following ideas were also discussed:

◦ Radar speed sign. 
◦ Speed bump.
◦ Strobe light instead of a yellow flashing light.
◦ Increase policing in the area.
◦ Install caution lines or lines and signage similar to the signs on the heights.
◦ Place a receptacle at each side of the streets with little stop signs or flags patrons 

can carry across.

Fox will contact the city and report back to the board. 

VIII. Agenda items for next meeting                                                                 Sheppard
• Timeline for Library Director Evaluation
• Renewal contract Tedene Enterprises for Janitorial services
• Budget calendar approval. committee approval
• Library policy

IX. Adjournment
Meeting adjourned at 8:07pm.                                                                                      

_______________

Other matters may be discussed as deemed appropriate by the Board. If necessary, 
Executive Session may be held in accordance with the following. Bolded topics are scheduled
for the current meeting's executive session.

ORS 192.660 (1) (d) Labor Negotiations
ORS 192.660 (1) (e) Property
ORS 192.660 (1) (h) Legal Rights
ORS 192.660 (1) (i) Personnel

The Board of Directors meets on the 3rd Tuesday each month from 7.00 to 9.00p in the 
Jeanne Marie Gaulke Memorial Meeting Room at 502 State Street, Hood River, Oregon. Sign 
language interpretation for the hearing impaired is available if at least 48 hours notice is 
given.

Page 4

III.ii.a. Minutes February 19, 2020 regular meeting 14



Board of Directors
Emergency Meeting Minutes

Monday, March 14 2019, 10:45am
Jeanne Marie Gaulke Community Meeting Room

502 State St, Hood River
Jean Sheppard, President

Present: Jean Sheppard, Megan Janik, Sara Marsden (phone), Rachael Fox (Library 
staff member)

I. Additions/deletions from the agenda (ACTION) Sheppard
Board President Jean Sheppard called the meeting to order at 10:45am. The emergency 
meeting was called to discuss the possible closure of the Hood River County Library District 
branches due to COVID-29. Janik made a motion to approve the agenda as presented. 
Marsden seconded. The motion carried unanimously.

II. Conflicts or potential conflicts of interest Sheppard
None stated.

III. Open forum for the general public Sheppard
None present. 

IV. COVID-19 Closure Plan and Continuation of Service Plan (ACTION) Fox
Fox expressed concerns regarding the safety of the public and staff and the difficulty at this 
time to enforce social distancing measures in the library. In addition, due to the unknown of 
virus transmission on objects, it would be unsafe to continue to be open to the public. Fox 
recommended following the Hood River County School District and closing until March 31. 

Sheppard, Janik, and Marsden agreed for the safety of patrons and staff to close the library 
until March 31 and longer if deemed necessary by federal, state, and local authorities. 

Sheppard and Marsden asked if library staff will be paid during the closure. Fox referenced 
the Personnel Policy section 6.10 Emergency Closure, if, due to weather emergencies or 
other special circumstances, a branch must be closed, employees will be paid for their 
regularly scheduled hours. 

Fox asked the board to approve the COVID-19 Closure Plan and Continuation of Service 
Plan. This plan will allow the Board President and Library Director to make the decision 
regarding extending the closure, if needed. This would eliminate the need to call another 
emergency meeting. Janik made a motion to approved the plan. Marsden seconded. The 
motion carried unanimously. 

V. Adjournment Sheppard

III.ii.b. Minutes March 14, 2020 emergency meeting 15



The meeting adjourned at 11:10am. 

_______________

Other matters may be discussed as deemed appropriate by the Board. If necessary, Executive 
Session may be held in accordance with the following. Bolded topics are scheduled for the current 
meeting's executive session.

ORS 192.660 (1) (d) Labor Negotiations
ORS 192.660 (1) (e) Property
ORS 192.660 (1) (h) Legal Rights
ORS 192.660 (1) (i) Personnel

The Board of Directors meets on the 3rd Tuesday each month from 7.00 to 9.00p in the Jeanne Marie 
Gaulke Memorial Meeting Room at 502 State Street, Hood River, Oregon. Sign language 
interpretation for the hearing impaired is available if at least 48 hours notice is given.

Page 2

III.ii.b. Minutes March 14, 2020 emergency meeting 16



V.iii.a. February 2020 financial statements 17



V.iii.a. February 2020 financial statements 18



V.iii.a. February 2020 financial statements 19



V.iii.a. February 2020 financial statements 20



V.iii.a. February 2020 financial statements 21



V.iii.a. February 2020 financial statements 22



V.iii.a. February 2020 financial statements 23



V.iii.a. February 2020 financial statements 24



V.iii.a. February 2020 financial statements 25



V.iii.b. March 2020 financial statements 26



V.iii.b. March 2020 financial statements 27



V.iii.b. March 2020 financial statements 28



V.iii.b. March 2020 financial statements 29



V.iii.b. March 2020 financial statements 30



V.iii.b. March 2020 financial statements 31



V.iii.b. March 2020 financial statements 32



V.iii.b. March 2020 financial statements 33



V.iii.b. March 2020 financial statements 34



2020-2021 Budget Calendar

Wednesday, April 22, 2020
Publish Website Notice of First Budget Committee Meeting
(5 - 30 days before hearing)

Wednesday, April 29, 2020
Publish Newspaper Notice of First Budget Committee Meeting
(5 - 30 days before hearing, at least 5 days apart)

Wednesday, May 13, 2020, 6.30 - 8.30p, Zoom meeting
First Budget Committee Meeting

• Receive budget message
• Presentation of budget document
• Budget Committee deliberations and questions
• Public comment 

Tuesday, May 19, 2020, 6.00 - 7.00p, Zoom meeting 
Second Budget Committee Meeting
(if necessary)

• Budget Committee deliberations and questions

Saturday, May 30, 2020
Publish financial summaries and Notice of Budget Hearing
(one publication, 5 – 30 days before hearing)

Tuesday, June 16, 2020, 7.00p, at Hood River Library or Zoom meeting
Public hearing

• Meeting to adopt budget, appropriate funds, and levy property taxes

Thursday, July 2, 2020
Deliver notice of property tax form LB-50 to County Tax Assessor
(by July 15)

• LB-50 (2 copies)
• Resolution passing budget (2 copies with original signatures)
• Budget (2 copies)
• Affidavits of publication (Budget Committee meeting & Budget Hearing)

VI.i. Proposed 2020-21 budget calendar 35



Library Director Evaluation Policy

The Board of Directors of the Hood River County Library District has one 
senior management staff position, Library Director. The Library Director 
reports to the Board of Directors and is responsible for the day-to-day 
operations of the District. The Board of Directors has the authority and 
responsibility to administer the annual evaluation process of the Library 
Director. 

Frequency
The District will evaluate the Library Director’s performance as it relates to the duties in the 
job description and goals established for the District and Director at the six month hiring 
anniversary, again at twelve months, and annually thereafter. In addition to evaluating 
performance, the review will include opportunity to create annual goals and identify training 
needs or opportunities for the Library Director. The annual evaluation timeline shall be created
and changed as needed by the Board President and approved by the Board of Directors.
 

Procedure
The Board of Directors shall complete the Library Director evaluation using the following 
procedures:
 

1. The Board of Directors shall establish the evaluation and criteria in consultation with 
the Library Director. Any changes to the criteria or goals shall become effective after 
mutual agreement between the Board and the Library Director.

2. The Library Director shall complete a self evaluation form and submit it to the Board.
3. District staff shall be requested to supply anonymous written input on approved 

evaluation forms, which shall allow for standard ratings and space for written 
comments.

4. The overall results of a feedback survey from community members selected by the 
Board of Directors may be used as a source of input in the evaluation process.

5. Board members shall complete individual evaluations, on forms with standard ratings 
and space for written comments, following receipt of evaluations from the Library 
Director, District staff, and community members.

6. The input from the Board, staff, Library Director, and community evaluations, as well as
the forms themselves, shall be compiled by the Board President.

7. The final draft of the evaluation is then presented to the Library Director. Scored areas 
will be averaged as appropriate. The written statements of the evaluations shall be 
included. 

8. The Library Director shall have one week to review the final draft of the evaluation and 
develop written comments in response. These comments shall be submitted first to the
Board of Directors with the proposed evaluation.

9. The evaluation shall at all times be reviewed in executive session meetings unless the 
Library Director requests that it be conducted in public.

10.The President will meet with the Library Director to review the evaluation, develop 
goals, and identify training needs to be included in the final evaluation document.

VII.i.a. Library Director Evaluation Policy 36



Library Director Evaluation Policy, p.2

11. The Board of Directors shall review and accept or reject the evaluation or any portion 
thereof as compiled by the President. At this time, the Board of Directors shall 
determine the amount of salary increase (if any)in the Library Director’s compensation 
to be awarded in the next fiscal year (July 1). The salary increase shall be in 
compliance with the established salary structure system. The salary deliberations shall 
be held in public session. 

12.The evaluation, once approved by the Board of Directors, is then presented to the 
Library Director for his/her files and the personnel file. The evaluation is subject to 
disclosure under public records laws. 

Approved by the Board of Directors, June 19, 2012
Last amended: January 15, 2018
Last reviewed: January 15, 2018

VII.i.a. Library Director Evaluation Policy 37



Library Director
Evaluation Timeline

2019-20

Library Staff and Community Member Surveys
• Monday, April 20, 2020 Library Director

◦ Email Library Staff - Upcoming Library Director evaluation 

• Wednesday, April 22, 2020 Library District Board President
◦ Email survey monkey link and explanation to library staff and community members

• Wednesday, April 29, 2020
◦ Evaluation due

▪ Library Staff
▪ Friends and Foundation presidents

Library District Board Survey
• Friday, May 1, 2020 

◦ Email board survey monkey form and compilation of survey from staff and Friends and 
Foundation presidents Library District Board President

• Friday, May 8, 2020
◦ Evaluation due  from Library District Board

Library Director reviews compilation
• Friday, May 8, 2020 – Thursday, May 14, 2020

• Library Director reviews compilation of staff, community and District board surveys

• Tuesday, May 19, 2020
• Library District Board conducts Library Director evaluation in Executive session at the 

regular monthly board meeting

VII.i.b. Library Director evaluation timeline 38



VII.ii.a. Contract Onstott, Brohel and Cyphers 2017-2020 39



VII.ii.a. Contract Onstott, Brohel and Cyphers 2017-2020 40



VII.ii.a. Contract Onstott, Brohel and Cyphers 2017-2020 41



VII.ii.a. Contract Onstott, Brohel and Cyphers 2017-2020 42



VII.ii.a. Contract Onstott, Brohel and Cyphers 2017-2020 43



VII.ii.a. Contract Onstott, Brohel and Cyphers 2017-2020 44



VII.ii.a. Contract Onstott, Brohel and Cyphers 2017-2020 45



VII.ii.a. Contract Onstott, Brohel and Cyphers 2017-2020 46



VII.ii.b. Contract renewal 2019-20 47



VII.ii.b. Contract renewal 2019-20 48



VII.ii.b. Contract renewal 2019-20 49



Bid request
for accounting services

Proposals due: Monday, May 11 2020, at 5.00p
Mailing address: 502 State St, Hood River, OR 97031
Email: rachael@hoodriverlibrary.org

Hood River County Library District is seeking bids from qualified entities for accounting 
services for the reporting of all financial transactions including the recording of revenues, 
regular payment of budgeted obligations including payroll, the delivery of regular monthly 
financial statements with budget comparisons and the filing of applicable governmental 
reports for payrolls. Proposal specifications as well as information and clarification on this 
request may be obtained by contacting:

Rachael Fox, Library Director
Hood River County Library District
502 State St, Hood River, OR 97031
rachael@hoodriverlibrary.org
541-387-7062

Questions must be in writing or electronic and be received by 12.00p on Monday, May 4, 
2020.

Proposers are required to comply with all provisions of Oregon Revised Statues and District 
policy. The District reserves the right to:

1. Reject any or all proposals not in compliance with public proposal procedures,
2. To postpone award of the contract for a period not to exceed sixty (60) days from date 

of proposal opening,
3. To waive informalities in proposals, 
4. To select the proposal which appears to be in the best interest of the District.

VII.ii.c. Bid Request for Accounting Services 50



Hood River County Library District, Bid request for accounting services, p.2

 I. Statement of work

 A. Purpose of request 
Hood River County Library District is seeking bids from qualified entities for accounting 
services for the reporting of all financial transactions including the recording of revenues, 
regular payment of budgeted obligations including payroll, the delivery of regular monthly 
financial statements with budget comparisons and the filing of applicable governmental 
reports for payrolls. Our objective is to select the firm best qualified to provide financial 
services for Hood River County Library District.

The accounting firm recommended by the Library Director will be awarded the contract. 
Contract award is contingent on approval by the Library District Board of Directors.

The term of the contract will be for one year and may be renewed for two years annually 
thereafter at the option of the District and Contractor.

 B. Description of District
Hood River County Library District serves all of Hood River County, Oregon. The District 
includes the Hood River Library and two smaller branches in Cascade Locks and Parkdale. 
This proposal is to provide financial services for all of the District's financial operations. 

1. Background information
Hood River County Library District serves all of Hood River County, Oregon. The 
District includes the Hood River Library and two smaller branches in Cascade Locks 
and Parkdale. This proposal is to provide financial services for all of the District's 
financial operations. The fiscal year begins on July 1 and ends on June 30th.

2. Fund structure 
Hood River County Library District has a General fund supported by a countywide ad 
valorem tax and revenues from fines, fees, grants, donations, and other sources. It 
also has two additional funds for restricted grants and capital reserve. Expenditures will
be made as approved within the annual operating budget. In the 2016-17 fiscal year, 
the District has budgeted approximately $1.2 million in expenditures. The District writes
800-900 paper checks annually, has payroll for 20 employees, and has EFT 
transactions for about 15 monthly bills.

3. Availability of prior financial data
The District's current and past two fiscal year budgets, as well as audits from the 
previous two fiscal years, are available online at 
http://hoodriverlibrary.org/about/budget/. Other financial information is available upon 
request to the Library Director.

 C. Scope of financial services required 
1. Scope of work

• The Contractor will establish a financial accounting system to provide for the 

VII.ii.c. Bid Request for Accounting Services 51

http://hoodriverlibrary.org/about/budget/


Hood River County Library District, Bid request for accounting services, p.3

timely and complete recording of all financial transactions for the District 
including the payment of budgeted obligations and recording the receipt of all 
funds received by the District.

• The Contractor will provide for the timely and regular payments for District 
monthly payrolls and complete the applicable forms for the reporting of payroll 
taxes to meet both State and Federal requirements.

• The Contractor will prepare regular monthly financial statements with 
comparison to the adopted budget and deliver such financial statements at least 
three days before the third Tuesday of the month in a timely fashion to the 
District Director and the Board of Directors to allow for their required oversight of
District operations.   

• The Contractor will prepare the annual Financial Statements for the District.
• Financial records will be adequate to meet the needs of the District within the 

requirement of Oregon Revised Statutes, as required by the Minimum Standards
for Audits of Oregon Municipal Corporations.

• The Contractor will maintain the District records in accordance with 
governmental generally accepted accounting principles. 

• The scope of work will include occasional technical accounting and financial 
reporting assistance throughout the year. This generally has consisted of 
answering questions on setting up funds, compliance issues, recording and 
reporting issues.  

• The accounting records will be subject to an annual audit performed by an 
independent auditor retained by the District at District expense.

• The District will provide coded invoices for payment, copies of the adopted 
budgets, receipts of deposits and adequate information to create timely and 
accurate payrolls and other source documents as needed to allow for the 
complete recording of all District financial activity. 

• The Contractor will be responsible to provide and maintain adequate software to
meet the needs of the District as described herein. The proposal should address
procedures for data security and file backup. The District's current records are 
maintained in Intuit QuickBooks.

2. Working paper retention and access to working papers

• All working papers and reports must be retained, at the Contractor’s expense, 
until returned to the Hood River County Library District. All financial records 
created for the benefit of the Hood River County Library District will be the 
property of the District. The Contractor will be required to make working papers 
available, upon request, to the following parties or their designees: Hood River 
County Library District, audit CPA firm designated to perform the annual audit of 
the financial records for the Hood River County Library District, and entities 
classifying the Hood River County Library District as a sub recipient of grant 
funds. In addition, the contractor shall respond to the reasonable inquiries of any
immediate successor contractor and allow such successor contractor to review 
working papers.

VII.ii.c. Bid Request for Accounting Services 52



Hood River County Library District, Bid request for accounting services, p.4

 D. Contract period
The contract will cover one calendar year and may be renewed for two years annually 
thereafter at the option of the District. It will include a sixty-day cancellation provision. Work 
would begin on July 1, 2020. The District reserves the right to request proposals for 
accounting services in future years.

 II.Proposal submission procedures

 A. Proposal submission
Proposals must be received by Monday, May 11, 2020, 5.00p. Proposals must be clearly 
designated as “Accounting Proposal”. Electronic proposals are highly preferred. Late 
proposals will not be accepted.

 B. Summary Of accounting firm's qualifications
Firms should describe their recent experience providing accounting services for governmental
agencies or large nonprofit organizations.

 C. Request for additional information
Potential bidders may request additional information by contacting Library Director Rachael 
Fox at rachael@hoodriverlibrary.org or 541-387-7062. Requests must be received by 12.00p 
on Monday, May 4, 2020.

 D. Submission sections
1. Transmittal letter: A letter of transmittal including the firm’s name, address and 

telephone number of the contact person, briefly stating the proposer's understanding of
the work to be done, the commitment to perform the work within the time period and a 
statement that the proposal is a firm and irrevocable offer for 60 days.  

2. Detailed proposal  
3. Qualifications: Provide detailed qualification of the firm for performing these accounting

services.  
4. Fee proposal: Specify the fee for the entire project on an annual basis. Also include the

rates you would charge for any additional or specialized services that may be 
necessary.

 E. Opportunity to comment
Firms may formally protest or comment on this proposal or selection process by submitting a 
written, signed statement to Rachael Fox, Library Director, Hood River County Library District,
at the contact information on page 1. Protests and comments must be received by 5.00p, 
Monday, June 15, 2020, to be considered. No protest against award because of the content of
specifications shall be considered after this deadline.

 F. Addenda
Addenda, if any, will be issued prior to the proposal due date. To ensure receipt of addenda, 
verify that the District has the name, phone number, and email for a contact person for the 

VII.ii.c. Bid Request for Accounting Services 53



Hood River County Library District, Bid request for accounting services, p.5

firm.

 G. Equal employment compliance requirement
By submitting this proposal, Proposer certifies conformance to the applicable federal acts, 
executive orders, and Oregon statutes and regulations concerning affirmative action toward 
equal employment opportunities.  

 H. Additional information
Please provide any other information you feel would help the Library Director evaluate your 
firm for this engagement.

VII.ii.c. Bid Request for Accounting Services 54



Hood River County Library District, Bid request for accounting services, p.6

 III. Proposal evaluation procedures

 A. Evaluation of proposals
Proposals will be evaluated to determine which proposal best meet the needs of the District. 
Proposals will be evaluated on the experience of the firm and fees. The District reserves the 
right to make the final selection by exercise of its own discretion.

 B. Proposal rejection
The District reserves the right to:

1. reject any or all proposals not in compliance with all public procedures and 
requirements;

2. reject any proposal(s) not meeting the specifications set forth herein;
3. waive any or all irregularities in proposals submitted;
4. reject all proposals;
5. award any or all parts of any proposal.
6. request references and other data to determine responsiveness.

 C. Protest of award
Any adversely affected Proposer has until 5.00p on Monday, June 15, 2020, to file a written 
protest.

 IV. General terms and conditions

 A. Submission of proposals
The submission of a proposal shall indicate the intention of the firm to adhere to the 
provisions described in this request.

 B. District clarification of proposals
The District reserves the right to obtain clarification of any point in a firm's proposal or to 
obtain additional information necessary to properly evaluate a particular proposal. Failure of a
proposer to respond to such a request for additional information or clarification could result in 
rejection of the firm's proposal.

 C. Cost of preparing a proposal
The request does not commit the District to paying any costs incurred by any Proposer in the 
submission or presentation of a proposal, or in making the necessary studies for the 
preparation thereof.

VII.ii.c. Bid Request for Accounting Services 55



Hood River County Library District, Bid request for accounting services, p.7

 V.Proposal certifications

Non-Discrimination Clause (ORS 279A.110)

Proposer hereby certifies they have not discriminated and will not discriminate against any 
minority, women, or emerging small business enterprise in obtaining any required 
subcontract.

It is further understood that any contractor who is in violation of this clause shall be barred 
from receiving awards of any contracts or purchases from the Library District unless a 
satisfactory showing is made that discriminatory practices have terminated and that a 
recurrence of such acts is unlikely.

Certified by: 
_________________________________________________________________

Firm Name: 
__________________________________________________________________

Address: 
____________________________________________________________________

VII.ii.c. Bid Request for Accounting Services 56



Hood River County Library District, Bid request for accounting services, p.8

 VI. Signature page

The undersigned proposes to perform all work as listed in this request, for the prices stated; 
and that all articles supplied under any resultant contract will conform to the specifications 
herein.

The undersigned certifies that the proposal has been arrived at by the Proposer 
independently and has been submitted without any collusion designed to limit independent 
competition.

The undersigned certifies that the following addenda have been received and duly considered
and that all associated costs have been included in this proposal:

Addenda:  No. _________ to No. _________ inclusive.

The proposer has examined all parts of this Request For Proposal, including all requirements 
and contract terms and conditions thereof.  If it’s proposal is accepted, Proposer agrees to 
execute a contract which incorporates the terms and conditions of this request.

Name of firm: 
________________________________________________________________

Address:__________________________________________________________________

Telephone number:  ____________________ 

Email address: 
________________________________________________________________

Submitted by: ______________________________  ______________
                                      Authorized Signer          Date          

______________________________   
                                        Printed Name

VII.ii.c. Bid Request for Accounting Services 57



Hood River County Library District
Road Map to Reopening

Phase 1 - Slow the Spread COVID-19 (Physical Distancing)

• Staff work from home 
• Some staff work in the building
• Take care of fiscal, personnel, maintenance and statistical tasks
• Pick up mail and monitor the Hood River building
• Online programs and services
• Call center and email assistance
• Staff processing new physical library materials at home
• Physical branches closed

Phase 2 - Reopening (Management COVID-19)

• Stage 1 - Staff work in the building 
◦ Collections work caught-up (process new items, shelving)
◦ Files/work transferred back to office work stations
◦ Office work routines restored
◦ Call center and email assistance continue 
◦ Implement regular sanitation procedures, follow physical distancing 

guidelines and protective equipment use (masks, gloves, etc.) 

• Stage 2 - Some public services restored OUT OF BUILDING
◦ Curb side delivery and/or home delivery service and/or mail service
◦ Restocking of mini-libraries located around the county
◦ Call center and email assistance
◦ Interlibrary loan services restored 
◦ Return library materials – materials will be quarantined for 72 hours

• Stage 3 - Additional public services restored IN LOBBY ONLY
◦ Staff on duty in lobby
◦ Public laptop wireless computer(s) available in lobby to look for and 

request library collection materials which will be left outside library door 
for pick-up by public

◦ Telephone reference/research assistance/immediate real time 
conversations with librarians behind the glass doors

• Stage 4 - LIBRARY OPEN to public with EXTRA PRECAUTIONS and 
provided adequate public area sanitation supplies are available
◦ LIBRARY OPEN to public and all library services for the general public are

provided on a limited schedule to allow for enhanced cleaning, social 

Draft – Last revised 4/17/20

VII.iii. Hood River County Library District Roadmap to Reopening 58



distancing accommodations in place such as moving public seating and 
computers 6 feet apart

◦ Options: limiting the number of people allowed at one time and limiting 
computer time to 45 minutes or by appointment so that sanitation can 
take place between users and/or closing the seating wings to reduce 
sanitation requirements 

Phase 3 - Regular operations (All restrictions lifted)

• Library open to public
• Business as usual
• All library services to general public are provided as normal and as 

scheduled

Draft – Last revised 4/17/20

VII.iii. Hood River County Library District Roadmap to Reopening 59


	Library Director Evaluation Policy
	I. Statement of work
	A. Purpose of request
	B. Description of District
	C. Scope of financial services required
	D. Contract period

	II. Proposal submission procedures
	A. Proposal submission
	B. Summary Of accounting firm's qualifications
	Firms should describe their recent experience providing accounting services for governmental agencies or large nonprofit organizations.
	C. Request for additional information
	D. Submission sections
	E. Opportunity to comment
	F. Addenda
	G. Equal employment compliance requirement
	H. Additional information

	III. Proposal evaluation procedures
	A. Evaluation of proposals
	B. Proposal rejection
	C. Protest of award

	IV. General terms and conditions
	A. Submission of proposals
	B. District clarification of proposals
	C. Cost of preparing a proposal

	V. Proposal certifications
	VI. Signature page

